

**CONVENTION ON
BIOLOGICAL
DIVERSITY**

Distr.
GENERAL

UNEP/CBD/BS/COP-MOP/3/INF/6
31 January 2006

ENGLISH ONLY

CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES TO THE CONVENTION
ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY SERVING AS THE
MEETING OF THE PARTIES TO THE CARTAGENA
PROTOCOL ON BIOSAFETY

Third meeting

Curitiba, Brazil, 13 – 17 March 2006

Item 6 of the provisional agenda*

**REPORT OF THE THIRD LIAISON GROUP MEETING ON CAPACITY-
BUILDING FOR BIOSAFETY**

I. INTRODUCTION

1. The third meeting of the Liaison Group on Capacity-Building for Biosafety met in Tromsø, Norway from 20-21 January 2006.
2. The meeting was attended by 16 participants. The list of participants is contained in Annex II to this report.
3. The meeting was convened by the Executive Secretary, in accordance with decision BS-I/5 regarding the Coordination Mechanism for the Implementation of the Action Plan on Building Capacities for the Effective Implementation of the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety, which was adopted by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Protocol at its first meeting. It was hosted by the Norwegian Government.
4. The meeting elected Desmond Mahon (Canada) to serve as its Chairperson and Chris Viljoen (South Africa) to serve as Rapporteur.
5. The meeting adopted the provisional agenda that was provided in document UNEP/CBD/BS/LG-CB/3/1. The following key items were discussed by the meeting:
 - (a) Consideration of the draft background paper on the progress in, and effectiveness of, the implementation of the Action Plan for Building Capacities for the Effective Implementation of the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety
 - (b) Consideration of the report on the roster of biosafety experts.

* UNEP/CBD/BS/COP-MOP/3/1

II. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6. On the basis of information contained in the draft background paper on the progress in, and effectiveness of, the implementation of the Action Plan for Building Capacities for the Effective Implementation of the Protocol prepared by the Executive Secretary for consideration by the third meeting of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Protocol, the meeting observed that the current Action Plan did not require a comprehensive revision. Instead, it was recommended that the Action Plan should be updated to incorporate key experiences and lessons learned during its implementation. The draft updated Action Plan for Building Capacities for the Effective Implementation of the Protocol proposed by the meeting is annexed to this report (Annex I).

7. With regard to the roster of biosafety experts, the meeting considered the report prepared by the Executive Secretary containing a review of the operation and use of the roster and of the voluntary fund that was established to assist developing countries and countries with economies in transition to pay for the experts selected from the roster. The Liaison Group made recommendations to the Executive Secretary regarding possible measures for improving the use of the roster, which could be included in the pre-sessional paper on the roster of experts that will be considered by COP-MOP at its third meeting.

8. A proposal was also made, for possible consideration by COP-MOP, to de-link the roster from the voluntary fund that was established to assist developing country Parties and Parties with economies in transition to pay for the use of experts selected from the roster. It was suggested that developing country Parties and Parties with economies in transition should be allowed to apply for assistance from the voluntary fund to engage and pay for their preferred experts even if they are not listed on the roster.

ANNEX I

DRAFT UPDATED ACTION PLAN FOR BUILDING CAPACITIES FOR THE EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE BIOSAFETY PROTOCOL

1. *Objective of the Action Plan*

1. The objective of this Action Plan is to facilitate and support the development and strengthening of capacities for the ratification and effective implementation of the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety at the national, sub regional, regional and global levels in a timely manner. In this regard, the provision of financial, technical and technological support to developing countries, in particular the least developed and small island developing states among them, as well as countries with economies in transition, including countries amongst these that are centres of origin and centres of genetic diversity, is essential.

2. To achieve the above objective, this action plan aims to provide a general strategic framework to guide and facilitate the identification of country needs, priorities, actions and mechanisms of implementation and funding of capacity-building efforts at the national, regional and international levels.

2. *Guiding principles and strategic approaches*

3. In light of the operational experience and lessons learned from relevant processes, capacity-building initiatives undertaken in support of this Action Plan should, as appropriate:

(a) Be country-driven, i.e. responsive to the needs and priorities identified by the **recipient** countries themselves, taking into account the dynamic nature of some capacity-building needs;

(b) Ensure national ownership and leadership, including setting the agenda and leading the design and implementation of the **initiatives projects and activities**;

(c) Ensure systematic and timely participation of **all** relevant stakeholders in the **formulation**, planning and implementation of capacity-building initiatives, ~~including policy makers at the highest level~~;

(d) ~~Adopt~~ Recognizing that capacity-building is a dynamic, progressive **and long-term process, apply** an adaptive and learning-by-doing approach;

(e) Maximize synergy and complementarity ~~with other~~ **among all capacity-building initiatives relevant for biosafety**, ~~including those implemented with support from multilateral and bilateral agencies and other sources~~;

(f) **Apply** ~~Adopt~~ a results-oriented approach, focusing on achieving specific capacity-building outcomes ~~and targets~~;

(g) Promote policy dialogue with donors **and organizations providing biosafety capacity-building assistance** and encourage the participation of civil society and the private sector **in such dialogue**;

(h) **Apply** ~~Adopt~~ a holistic ~~or integrated~~ approach, ~~including linking~~ **integrating** biosafety activities with ~~other~~ **relevant** sectoral and national development policies, strategies and programmes. and

(i) **Encourage the development of nationally-designed, resourced and implemented activities that address the specific needs and priorities of each country.**

3. *Key elements requiring concrete action*

4. The following key elements are meant to be considered in a flexible manner, taking into account the different situations, capabilities and stages of development in each country.

- (a) Institutional capacity-building:
 - (i) Legislative and regulatory framework;
 - (ii) Administrative framework, ~~including decision-making under the Protocol;~~
 - (iii) Technical, scientific and telecommunications infrastructures;
 - (iv) Funding and resource management;
 - (v) Mechanisms for follow-up, monitoring and assessment;
- (b) Human-resources development and training;
- (c) Risk assessment and other scientific and technical expertise;
- (d) **Risk management;**
- (e) Awareness, participation and education at all levels, including for decision makers, stakeholders and the general public;
- (f) Information exchange and data management, including full participation in the Biosafety Clearing-House;
- (g) Scientific, technical and institutional collaboration at sub regional, regional and international levels;
- (h) Technology transfer;
- (i) Identification of living modified organisms, **including their detection;**
- (j) Socio-economic considerations;
- (k) **Implementation of the documentation requirements under Article 18.2 of the Protocol**
- (l) Handling of confidential information
- (m) Measures to address unintentional and/or illegal transboundary movements of living modified organisms;
- (n) Scientific biosafety research relating to living modified organisms;
- (o) **The taking into account risks to human health issues related to ~~resulting from the transboundary movements of living modified organisms.~~**

4. *Processes/steps*

5. The following processes/steps should be undertaken within appropriate timeframes:
- (a) Identification of existing capacities and assessment of capacity needs;
 - (b) Prioritization of the key elements by each country and the elaboration and sequencing of actions, including timelines, for building capacities in biosafety;
 - (c) Mobilization of existing capacities and ensuring their effective utilization;
 - (d) Identification of the coverage and gaps in capacity-building initiatives and resources that could support the ratification and implementation of the Protocol, from the following:
 - (i) Global Environment Facility (GEF);
 - (ii) Multilateral agencies;
 - (iii) Other international sources;
 - (iv) Bilateral sources;
 - (v) Other stakeholders;
 - (vi) National sources;
 - (e) **Enhancement of ~~ing~~** the effectiveness and adequacy of financial resources to be provided by multilateral and bilateral donors and other donors to developing countries, in particular the least developed and small island developing States among them, as well as countries with economies in transition taking, including countries amongst these that are centres of origin and centres of genetic diversity;
 - (f) **Enhancement of ~~ing~~** synergies and coordination of capacity-building initiatives at different levels;
 - (g) Development of indicators for evaluating capacity-building measures at different levels.
 - (h) Identification and maximization of opportunities for partnerships and collaborative initiatives in order to leverage resources and achieve greater ~~combined~~ impact.

5. *Implementation*

6. The activities hereunder are indicative tasks to be undertaken at different levels to implement the associated elements and processes identified above. The sequence in which they are listed does not establish any order of priority:

5.1 *National level*

- (a) Assessment of the effectiveness and adequacy of existing capacity;
- (b) Assessment of the short-term and long-term requirements for internal and external funding;

- (c) Development of a national biosafety capacity-building strategy and action plan, prioritizing the capacity-building needs, defining the objectives, outputs, targets and specific timelines;
- (d) Integration of biosafety into broader national development strategies and plans, including country Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSP), Country Assistance Strategies and/or other similar instruments;
- (e) Development and implementation of national ~~regulatory~~ **biosafety** frameworks ~~on biosafety~~;
- (f) Development and/or strengthening of institutional, administrative, financial and technical capacities, including the designation of national focal points and competent national authorities;
- (g) Development of a mechanism for handling requests or notifications, including risk assessment and decision-making, as well as public information and participation;
- (h) Establishment of a mechanism for monitoring and compliance;
- (i) Establishment of a mechanism to inform all stakeholders;
- (j) Establishment of a system to facilitate appropriate participation of all relevant stakeholders;
- (k) Establishment and/or strengthening of a coordination mechanism to promote synchronized and synergistic implementation of capacity-building activities and harmonized use of donor assistance at the country level.

5.2 Subregional and regional levels

- (l) Assessment of national, bilateral and multilateral funding;
- (m) Establishment of regional websites and databases;
- (n) Establishment of mechanisms for regional and sub regional coordination and harmonization of regulatory frameworks, where appropriate;
- (o) Promotion of regional and subregional collaborative arrangements;
- (p) Establishment of regional and subregional advisory mechanisms;
- (q) Establishment and/or strengthening of regional and subregional centres of excellence and training.

5.3 International level

- (r) Ensuring effective functioning of the Biosafety Clearing-House;
- (s) Enhancing the effectiveness and adequacy and coordination of financial resources to be provided by multilateral and bilateral donors and other donors to developing countries, in particular the least developed and small island developing States among them and countries with economies in transition, including countries amongst these that are centres of origin and centres of genetic diversity;
- (t) Development and effective use of the roster of experts;

- (u) Enhancing synergies and coordination of capacity building initiatives;
- (v) Strengthening South-South cooperation.
- (w) Development/updating of international guidance by relevant international organizations, including UNEP, FAO, IUCN and others;
- (x) Regular review and provision of further guidance by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Protocol.

6. *Monitoring and coordination*

7. Because of the multitude of different actors undertaking different capacity building initiatives, mutual information, coordination and regular monitoring will be promoted in order to avoid duplications and to identify gaps. This exercise will lead to a focus of capacity building on biosafety, ratification, and implementation of the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety. The Secretariat and the Biosafety Clearing-House will be actively involved in the process.

8. The Secretariat will prepare, on the basis of Governments' submissions, a report on the steps taken by countries, multilateral/bilateral and other international sources, towards implementation of the Action Plan. The report will be submitted to the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Protocol so that it identifies whether the actions listed under section 5 have been carried out successfully and effectively.

7. *Review of the Action Plan*

9. A ~~n-independent~~ review of the Action Plan will be undertaken every five years, **based on an independent evaluation of the effectiveness and outcomes** ~~The review will, *inter alia*, endeavor to assess the quality and results of capacity building initiatives projects and activities implemented in support of the Action Plan.~~

ANNEX II

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

1. Mr. Atanas Atanasov
 Director,
 Plant Biotechnology Research Centre
 AgroBioInstitute
 Bul. Dragan Tsankov 8
 Sofia 1164
 Bulgaria
 Tel.: +359 2 963 54 07
 Fax: +359 2 963 54 08
 E-Mail: atanas_atanassov@abi.bg
2. Mr. Christopher Briggs
 Global Programme Manager
 UNEP/GEF Biosafety Unit
 United Nations Environment Programme
 (UNEP)
 15 Chemin des Anemones
 Chatelaine
 Geneva CH-1219
 Switzerland
 Tel.: +41 22 917 8411
 Fax: +41 22 917 8070
 E-Mail: chris.briggs@unep.ch
3. Mr. Sergiy I. Gubar
 Deputy Director
 Directorate for Biotic, Land, Water Resources
 and ECONet
 Ministry of Environmental Protection
 House 35, Uritskogo Street
 Kyiv 03035,
 Ukraine
 Tel.: +380 44 206 31 66/44 206 31 53
 Fax: +380 44 206 31 66/ 44 206 31 53
 E-Mail: sgubar@svitonline.com
4. Ms. Li Lin Lim
 Researcher
 Third World Network
 2-1 Jalan 31/70A
 Desa Sri Hartamas
 Kuala Lumpur 50480
 Malaysia
 Tel.: +603 2300 2585
 Fax: +603 2300 2595
 E-Mail: twinkl@po.jaring.my
5. Ms. Sarah Lukie
 International and Regulatory Affairs Consultant
 Global Industry Coalition
 c/o McKenna Long & Aldridge
 1900 K Street NW
 Washington D. C. 20006
 United States of America
 Tel.: +1 202 496 7173
 Fax: +1 202 496 7756
 E-Mail: slukie@mckennalong.com;
slukie@hotmail.com
6. Mr. Desmond Mahon
 Manager, Office of Biosafety
 Strategic Priorities Directorate
 Environment Canada
 Place Vincent Massey
 351 St. Joseph Blvd, 21st floor
 Hull, PQ K1A 0H3, Canada
 Tel.: +1 819 997 3181
 Fax: +1 819 953 7682
 E-Mail: des.mahon@ec.gc.ca
7. Mr. Hartmut Meyer
 Biosafety Consultant
 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische
 Zusammenarbeit (GTZ)
 Dag Hammarskjöld Weg 1-5
 Postfach 5180
 Eschborn 65726
 Germany
 Tel.: +49 6196 79 1363/79 7403
 Fax: +49 6196 79 6190
 E-Mail: hmeyer@ngi.de
8. Mr. Charles Francis Mugoya
 Regional Coordinator
 ASARECA Biotechnology and Biosafety
 Programme
 Plot 5, Mpigi Road, P.O. Box 765
 Entebbe, Uganda
 Tel.: +256 41 322 126
 Fax: +256 41 322 593
 E-Mail: mugoyac@yahoo.com,
c.mugoya@asareca.org; biotech@asareca.org

9. Mr. S.R. Rao

Director, Department of Biotechnology
Ministry of Science and Technology
Block-2, C.G.O Complex, 7th Floor, Lodi Road
CGO Complex, Lodi Road
New Delhi 110-003, India
Tel.: +91 11 233 16 766/243 60 295
Fax: +91 11 233 16 745
E-Mail: srrao@dbt.nic.in;
sraodbt@indiatimes.com

10. Mr. Andrea Sonnino

Senior Agricultural Research Officer
Research and Technology Development Service,
Research, Extension and Training Division
Food and Agriculture Organization of the United
Nations
Viale delle Terme di Caracalla
Rome 00100, Italy
Tel.: +39 06 5705 5499
Fax: +39 06 5705 5731
E-Mail: andrea.sonnino@fao.org

11. Mr. Decio Ripandelli

Director, Administration and External
Relationship and Head of Biosafety Unit
International Centre for Genetic Engineering and
Biotechnology
AREA Science Park, Padriciano 99
I-34012
Trieste 34012, Italy
Tel.: +39 040 375 7345
Fax: +39 040 375 7363
E-Mail: decio@icgeb.org

12. Mr. Gado Tchangbedji

Enseignant Chercheur
Université de Lomé
B.P. 1515
Lomé, Togo
Tel.: +228 911 3834
Fax: +228 221 8595
E-Mail: tchangbedji@hotmail.com

27. Ms. Paz Valiente

Senior Environmental Specialist
Global Environment Facility
1818 H Street, N.W.
Washington DC 20433
United States of America
Tel.: +1 202 458 8863
Fax: +1 202 522 3240/3245
E-Mail: pvaliente@TheGEF.org

14. Mr. Chris Viljoen

Senior Lecturer
GMO Testing Facility
Department of Plant Sciences
Faculty of Natural and Agricultural
Sciences
University of the Free State
P.O. Box 339
Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa
Tel.: +27 051 401 2776
Fax: +27 051 448 8772
E-Mail: viljoecd.sci@mail.uovs.ac.za

15. Ms. Stacey Wells-Moultrie

Assistant Geologist
The Bahamas Environment Science and
Technology Commission (BEST)
Nassau Court
P.O. Box N 3730
Nassau, Bahamas
Tel.: +242 322 2576
Fax: +242 326 3509
E-Mail: bestnbs@hotmail.com; smoultrie@best.bs

16. Mr. Dayuan Xue

Professor
Nanjing Insitute of Environmental Sciences
8 Jiang-Wang-Miao St., P.O. Box 4202
Nanjing 210042
China
Tel.: +86 10 6893 1632/ 86 13 910 17 6361 (mob.)
Fax: +86 25 85 41 1611/ +86 10 68 93 1632
E-Mail: xuedayuan@hotmail.com
